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I. INTRODUCTION

1. Kudelski SA, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Nagravision SA (“Nagravision”),

Nagra USA, Inc. (“Nagra USA”), and OpenTV, Inc. (“OpenTV”) (collectively, “Kudelski” or

“Complainants”) request that the United States International Trade Commission (“Commission”)

institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19

U.S.C. § I337 (“Section 337”), to remedy the unlawful importation into the United States, sale

for importation into the United States, and/or sale and/or lease within the United States after

importation of certain digital television set-top boxes, remote control devices, and components

thereof (the “Accused Products”). Such Accused Products are distributed and enabled in the form

of set-top boxes with or without digital video recording (“DVR”), gateways, voice-enabled

remote control devices, and other customer premises equipment. These Accused Products

infringe Kudclski’s patent rights under United States Patent Nos. 6,345,389 (the “i389 Patent”),

7,028,327 (the ‘"327 Patent”), and 7,725,720 (the “’720 Patent) (collectively, the “Asserted

Patents”). 1

2. The proposed respondents are: (a) Comcast Corporation and its direct and indirect

subsidiaries Comcast Cable Communications, LLC; Comcast Cable Communications

Management, LLC; Comcast Business Communications, LLC; and Comcast STB

Software I, LLC (collectively, “Comcast Cable” or “Comcast Cable Respondents”); (b) ARRIS

International plc and its direct and indirect subsidiaries ARRIS Group, Inc.; ARRIS Technology,

Inc.; ARRIS Enterprises LLC; ARRIS Solutions, Inc.; ARRIS Global Ltd. (formerly Pace Ltd.);

Pace Americas, LLC; and Pace USA LLC (collectively, “ARRIS” or “ARRIS Respondents”);

I Pursuant to Rule 21O.12(a)(9)(i), certified copies of the Asserted Patents accompany this
Complaint as Exhibits 1, 2, and 3, along with four additional copies of each of the Asserted
Patents.
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and (c) Universal Electronics Inc. and its direct or indirect subsidiaries Gemstar Technology

(China) Co. Ltd.; Gemstar Technology (Qinzhou) Co. Ltd.; and Gemstar Technology

(Yangzhou) Co. Ltd. (collectively, “Universal Electronics” or “Universal Electronics

Resp0ndents”)2 (all collectively, _“ProposedRespondents” or “Respondents”). Upon information

and belief, the Comcast Cable Respondents import or direct the importation into the United

States, and/or sell and/or lease after importation, infringing products that are manufactured,

imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold after

importation into the United States by the ARRIS Respondents and the Universal Electronics

Respondents.

3. Complainants are part of the Kudelski Group. Kudelski SA is the ultimate parent

of companies in the Kudelski Group. The Kudelski Group is a global leader in digital security

and convergent media solutions for the delivery of digital and interactive content, including

within the United States. Its technologies are used in a wide range of digital television services

and applications requiring access control and rights management.

4. Through its U.S. subsidiaries, the Kudelski Group has made significant and

substantial investments in the United States. These include investments in both the development
1

and distribution of software for products, such as the OpenTV 5 and intuiTV products, that

practice claims of the ’720 and ’389 Patents, and in the licensing of the Asserteld Patents to a

2As discussed further below, upon information and belief, the three Gemstar entities are wholly
owned subsidiaries of Universal Electronics, lnc. and are believed to be engaged in the
manufacture of Accused Products, and specifically voice-enabled remote control devices. See,
e.g., Exhibit 4 at 11, 21; Exhibit 5 (press release). As noted in Exhibit 5, Universal Electronics’
subsidiary C.G. Development Ltd. apparently is the direct owner of the Gemstar entities and has
entered into an agreement to sell Gemstar Technology (China) Co. Ltd. (“Gemstar China”). At
this time, however, Complainants are unaware of further information regarding the status of the
sale and have named Gemstar China as a Proposed Respondent based on the most recent
information available.
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range of digital content providers, including licensees marketing and selling products that

practice claims of the ’389 and ’327 Patents. A domestic industry thus exists or is in the process

of being established in the Asserted Patents and articles protected thereby under Section

337(a)(2) and (a)(3), based on Kudelski’s significant investments in labor, facilities, equipment,

and other activities in support of its efforts to develop and distribute its products that practice the

Asserted Patents, as well as l(udelski’s substantial investments in labor, facilities, and other

activities in support of its extensive and successful domestic patent licensing business.

5. As part of its established domestic licensing program, Kudelski has attempted to

engage in negotiations with Comcast Cable to obtain a fair license from Comcast Cable for the

Kudelski technology that it is already using in its Xfinity X1-branded U.S. cable television

products, as well as other products. The Comcast Cable Respondents instead have oontinued

their unlawful importation and/or sale and/or lease after importation of the Accused Products.

6. The unauthorized use of Kudelski’s patented inventions by Respondents and their

customers is widespread and pervasive—the Accused Products include (1) substantially all set

top boxes produced by the ARRIS Respondents and provided by Comcast Cable to its customers

in the United States as part of Comcast Cable’s Xfinity X1 television services, and (2) voice

enabled remote control devices produced by the Universal Electronics Respondents, which are

broadly advertised by Comcast Cable as integral parts of the Xfinity X1 service it offers to

consumers in the United States. On information and belief, more than a dozen different models

of the Accused Products are being imported, sold for importation, and/or sold and/or leased after

importation by Respondents.

7. Kudelski asks the Commission to investigate the unlawful acts of Respondents.

Kudelski asserts that the Accused Products directly or indirectly infringe at least the following
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claims of the Asserted Patents, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents: Claims 1, 2,‘

9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, and 16 ofthe ’389 Patent; Claims 13 and 36 ofthe ’327 Patent; and Claims

1, 2, 5, and 8 of the ’72OPatent (collectively, the “Asserted Claims”).3 The following chart

summarizes the Asserted Claims being asserted against each of the Proposed Respondents:

Respondent | Patent | Claims Asserted (Independent Claims with Asterisk)
ARRIS ’389 I 1*, 2, 9, 10, 11*, 13, 14, 15,16

’327 | ,13* 36

4 ’720 11*,2,5,s
Connmst _ ’3s9 11*,2,9,10,11*,13,14,15,16
Cabk *327 t13*,3s

’720 |1*,2,5,s

[hnvemal {1*,2,9,10,11*,13,14,15,16Electronics

8. Kudelski rcqucsts a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of the Accused Products made by or for

either ARRIS or Universal Electronics for ultimate sale to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to

customers by Comcast Cable that infringe one or more of the Asserted Claims of the Asserted

Patents. Kudelski also seeks a permanent cease and desist order, pursuant to Section 337(f),

directing Respondents, their parents, subsidiaries, related companies, and agents to cease and

desist from activities that include, but are not limited to, importing, marketing, advertising,

demonstrating, offering for sale or lease, licensing, selling, leasing, or otherwise distributing

from domestic inventory, or using Accused Products that directly or indirectly infringe one or

3 On information and belief, the Accused Products also may infringe directly or indirectly,
literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, Claims 3 and 5 of the ’389 Patent; Claims 14,
l5, 25, 33, and 34 ofthe ’327 Patent, one 0fClaims 17, 18, l9, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 24 of the ’327
Patent, one of Claims 28 and 29 of the ’327 Patent, and one of Claims 30 and 31 of the ’327
Patent; and ‘Claims4, 10, and ll of the ’720 Patent. Complainants believe that information
obtained through discovery into the asserted claims will help determine Whether these additional
claims are also infringed. Should Complainants determine that additional claims are infringed,
Complainants will promptly seek leave to amend the Complaint to add such additional claims as
Asserted Claims.
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more of the Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents, or from aiding or abetting others in such

conduct. Further, Kudelski requests that the Commission impose a bond during the 60-day

Presidential review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(e)(1) and (i)(3) to prevent further injury

to the domestic industry of Kudelski relating to each of the Asserted Patents.

II. COMPLAINANTS .

9. Complainant Kudelski SA and its wholly-owned subsidiary Nagravision are

Swiss corporations with their principal place of business at 22-24, Route de Geneve, 1033

Cheseaux-sur-Lausanne, Switzerland. Kudelski SA——theultimate parent of the Kudelski family

of companies—is publicly traded on the SIX Swiss Stock Exchange.

10. Complainant Nagra USA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kudelski SA.

Complainant OpenTV is, in tum, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nagra USA. Nagra USA is a

New York Corporation with its principal place of business at 275 Sacramento Street, San

Francisco, California 94111. OpenTV is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of

business at 485 Clyde Avenue, Mountain View, California 94043.

11. Founded in 1951 by Stefan Kudelski, the Kudelski Group has a long history of

innovation, most recently in the areas of content protection, content delivery, access control

systems, smart cards, and interactivity. The Kudelski Group began by successfully launching a

series of professional-quality portable recording devices"known as “Nagra” for cinema,

television, and radio recording, which revolutionized Hollywood moviemaking and have

received-numerous technical awards over the years. For example, Stefan Kudelski received four

Oscar Awards from the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences for his technological

contributions to the film industry. He was also recognized by the FBI for his contributions in the

field of audio recording.
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12. The success of its products allowed the Kudelski Group to expand its technology

into the field of digital television. In 1989, the Kudelski Group launched its first conditional

access systems for pay TV. In 1996, the current CEO and Chairman of the Kudelski Group

Andre Kudelski received an Emmy Award from the National Academy of Arts and Sciences for

achievements in the area of pay-TV conditional access and scrambling systems. In 1997, digital

pay television became the company’s core business.

13. NAGRA is the integrated Digital TV division of the Kudelski Group and includes

Complainants Nagravision, Nagra USA, and OpenTV, among others. This division provides

secure digital TV access and management systems offering content providers and Digital TV

operators worldwide with secure, open, integrated platforms and applications over broadcast,

broadband, and mobile platforms, enabling compelling and personalized viewing experiences.

NAGRA is a global leader in delivering secure, end-to-end digital media technologies. NAGRA

works with the world’s leading operators to bring the next generation of pay-TV services to

fruition while helping them protect and grow their businesses in a fast-evolving pay-TV industry.

14. OpenTV is headquartered in San Francisco, California, and has offices in

Mountain View, California, and throughout the world. OpenTV, Inc., was formed in 1994

through the merger of subsidiaries of Thomson Multimedia and Sun Microsystems. The

Kudelski Group acquired OpenTV in 2009, enabling it to offer solutions that manage the entire

pay-TV ecosystem. OpenTV employs more than 120 people in the United States.

15. OpenTV primarily develops software known as “middleware” that provides its

customers with high-quality technology, services, and end-to-end solutions enabling intuitive and

personalized viewing experiences for consumers. OpenTV’s software solutions enable a variety

of advanced and interactive services for television, including advanced user interfaces, video-on
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demand (“VOD”), personal video recording (“PVR”), high-definition (“HD”), interactive and

addressable advertising, and a variety of enhanced television applications. OpenTV’s software

has been shipped in over 200 million set-top boxes. OpenTV has approximately 80 worldwide

customers that run OpenTV solutions, including 40 OEMS that have ported OpenTV software to

more than 250 digital set-top box models. l

16. The Kudelski Group continues to invest in the development of cutting-edge

digital-TV technology, including through significant investments in the United States. Today, for

example, NAGRA offers OpenTV 5, middleware for set-top boxes with an increased focus‘on

the visual impact and usability of the TV user experience. See Exhibit 6; see also Exhibit 7

(Gibson Declaration) at 112. OpenTV 5 securely provides access for television devices to the

internet and over-the-top (“OTT”) television services (e.g., Netflix) and other content providers,

while maintaining robust access to traditional broadcast services. See Exhibit 6. OpenTV has

made significant investments in the United States toward the product design and development of

OpenTV 5 and its the implementation in a range of set-top boxes and other articles.

17. Launched in 2013, OpenTV 5 won top honors in the.“Pay-TV, Advanced TV and

Video Networks” category of the 2015 Fierce Innovation Awards: Telecom Edition. See Exhibit

8. Presented by the publishers of Fiercewireless, FierceTelecom and FierceCable, this award

recognized OpenTV 5 as a best new product offered to cable-TV and satellite operators, teleo

TV companies, and other broadband providers offering video content. See id. Today, OpenTV

continues to develop new features [or OpenTV 5 to include in future releases to new and existing

customers.

18. In 2016, NAGRA launched intuiTV, a cutting edge, end-to-end user experience

turnkey platform. See Exhibit 9. The intuiTV product, which offers set-top box and remote
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control hardware, is designed to enable an all-in-one pay-TV service that marries live TV and

streaming services. See id.; see also Exhibit 7 at 1i8. In March 2016, intuiTV received the

“Making TV More Millennial Friendly” prize and was recognized for its “Contribution to User

Experience” at the 2016 Videonet Connected TV Awards. See Exhibit 10. OpenTV developers in

its San Francisco and Mountain View, California facilities spend significant time developing

next-generation products like intuiTV to offer new features to its customers to remain

competitive in the marketplace.

19. Kudelski’s customers are leaders in the field of digital television. Customers in

the United States include DISH Network, EchoStar, GlobeCast, Mobile Venture Content, and

CableOne.

20. Through Kudelski’s efforts to develop technologies in-house, coupled with its

technology-acquisition efforts, the Kudelski Group overall has more than 5,300 patents and

applications around the world, including more than 500 U.S. patents, in a variety of technology

areas, including digital security, access control, digital television and rights management, among

other areas. Customers benefit from a comprehensive intellectual property cross-licensing

program that provides access to many fundamental technologies, enabling them to continuously

innovate, build and deliver compelling viewing experiences to consumers.

21. OpenTV is the sole owner by assigmnent of the ’389 and ’327 Patents.

Nagravision is the sole owner by assigrnnent of the ’72(]Patent. Due to their status of being

subsidiary companies of Kudelski, Nagravision, OpenTV, Nagra USA, and Nagra IP all have

implied licenses to practice and sub-license patents owned by fellow subsidiaries. See Exhibit 29

at1l3.

_g_



III. PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

A. Comcast Cable Respondents

22. Upon information and belief, Comcast Corporation is a Pennsylvania corporation

with its principal place of business at One Comcast Center, 1701 John F. Kennedy Boulevard,

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103. All other Comcast Cable Respondents are direct or indirect

subsidiaries of Comcast Corporation. Upon information and belief, Comcast Corporation is

involved in the development, marketing, sale, and distribution of the imported Accused Products

in the United States, including at least through the activities of its wholly owned subsidiaries and

by entering into one or more license and distribution agreements to acquire rights to technology

for digital television services on behalf of itself and its affiliated companies.

23. Upon information and belief, Comcast Cable Communications, LLC is a

Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business at One Comcast Center,

1701 John F. Kennedy Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103._Also upon information and

belief, Comcast Cable Communications and its subsidiaries are involved in the design, testing,

implementation, marketing and sale of Xfinity Home, Internet, TV and Digital Voice services,

including Xfinity X1 services, to subscribers in the United States, including by providing

imported set-top boxes and other premises equipment bearing Xfinity logos and other Comcast

branding to such subscribers. Further, Comcast Cable Communications also provides

management and coordination of network elements used to deliver Xfinity services. Also upon

information and belief, Comcast Cable Communications also owns, operates, and maintains the

website http://www.xfinity.com, through which the Xfinity X1 services and Accused Products

are advertised, marketed, documented, explained, and sold and/or leased to subscribers.

24. Upon information and belief, Comcast Business Communications, LLC is a

Pennsylvania limited liability company with its principal place of business at One Comcast
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Center, 1701 John F. Kennedy Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103. Also upon

information and belief, Comcast Business Communications is involved in the marketing, sale,

and distribution of Comcast Internet, phone, and cable television services to businesses in the

United States, including services involving imported Accused Products.

25. Upon information and belief, Comcast Cable Communications Management,

LLC, is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business at One Comcast

Center, 1701 John F. Kennedy Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103. Also upon

information and belief, Comcast Cable Communications Management is involved in the q

development of Comcast digital television products and services, including by entering into one

or more software license and services agreements to acquire rights to technology related to

digital television services.

26. Upon information and belief, Comcast STB Software I, LLC is a Delaware

limited liability company located at 1201 N. Market Street, Suite 1000, Wilmington, Delaware

19801. Upon information and belief, Comcast STB Software is involved in the development of

digital television products and services, including by entering into one or more license and

distribution agreements on behalf of itself and other Comcast affiliates to acquire the rights to

technology for digital television services.

27. Comcast Cable is one of the largest cable operators in the United States, offering

residential and business services in numerous geographic markets across the nation. The

Comcast Cable Respondents offer Internet, video, and voice services under their Xfinity brand,

including Xfinity X1 service. See Exhibit 11. They also import and/or purchase after importation

and sell and/or lease digital television set-top boxes, remote control devices, their components,

and other customer premises equipment to Xfinity customers. They purchase such equipment
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from a limited number of suppliers, including proposed Respondents ARRIS and Universal

Electronics. - 

28. On information and belief, the Comcast Cable Respondents design, develop,

manufacture (or have manufactured on their behalf), import into the United States, sell for

importation into the United States, and/or sell and/or lease after importation into the United

States the Accused Products that infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents. Upon information

and belief, the Comcast respondents are also involved in the importation of the Accused Products

by the other named Respondents, which are imported bearing one or more Comcast brand names

or trade names, such as its Xfinity logo. See, e.g., Exhibits 16-19.

B. ARRIS Respondents

29. Upon information and belief, ARRIS International plc is a corporation organized

under the laws of England and Wales with its corporate headquarters at 3871 Lakefield Drive,

Suwanee, Georgia 30024. On information and belief, all other ARRIS Respondents are direct or

indirect subsidiaries of ARRIS International. Also upon information and belief, ARRIS

International is involved in the design, development, manufacture, distribution, importation into

the United States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale after importation of

Accused Products for and to Comcast Cable, including at least through the activities of its wholly

owned subsidiaries.

30. Upon infonnation and belief, ARRIS Group, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with

its offices at 3871 Lakefield Drive, Suwanee, Georgia 30024. Also upon information and belief,

in 2013, ARRIS Group acquired the Motorola Home business from a subsidiary of Google,

which included the company’s set-top box division. On information and belief, to help fund the

deal, Comcast Cable Corporation purchased a minority stake in ARRIS. In 2016, ARRIS Group

also acquired Pace plc (now ARRIS Global Ltd.), another set-top box maker, and its subsidiaries.
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Upon information and belief, ARRIS Group is involved in the design, development,

manufacture, distribution, sale, importation into the United States, sale for importation into the

United States, and/or sale after importation of Accused Products for and to Comcast Cable,

including at least through the activities of the former Motorola Home business and former Pace

entities.

31. Upon information and belief, ARRIS Solutions, Inc. is a Delaware corporation

with its offices at 3871 Lakefield Drive, Suwanee, Georgia 30024. Also upon information and

belief, ARRIS Solutions is involved in the importation into the United States and sale and

distribution within the United States of Accused Products to Comcast Cable.

32. Upon information and belief, ARRIS Enterprises LLC is a Delaware limited

liability company also with its offices at 3871 Lakefield Drive, Suwanee, Georgia 30024. Also

upon information and belief, ARRIS Enterprises is involved in the manufacture abroad of

Accused Products that are imported and sold in the United States.

33. Upon information and belief, ARRIS Technology, Inc. is a Delaware oorporation

with its offices at 101 Tournament Drive, Horsham, Pennsylvania 19044. Also upon information

and belief, ARRIS Technology is involved in the importation into the United States, and sale and

distribution within the United States of Accused Products to Comcast Cable.

34. Upon information and belief, ARRIS Global Ltd., formerly Pace Ltd., is a

corporation organized under the laws of England and Wales with its offices at Victoria Road,

Saltaire, West Yorkshire BD18 3LE, England. Also upon information and belief, ARRIS Global

Ltd., is a set-top box maker formerly known as Pace Ltd., which was acquired by ARRIS Group

in 2016. Upon information and belief, ARRIS Global is involved in the design, development,

manufacture, distribution, importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United
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States, and/or sale after importation of Accused Products for and to Comcast Cable, including at

least through the activities of former Pace entities.

35. Upon information and belief, Pace Americas LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company with its principal place of business at 3701 FAU Boulevard, Suite 200,_BocaRaton,

Florida 33431. Also upon information and belief, Pace Americas is involved in the importation

into the United States, and sale and distribution within the United States of Accused Products to

Comcast Cable.

I 36. Upon information and belief, Pace USA LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company with its principal place of business at 3701 FAU Boulevard, Suite 200, Boca Raton,

Florida 33431. Also upon information and belief, Pace USA LLC is involved in the design,

development, and/or manufacture of Accused Products that are imported into the United States,

sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States.

37. The ARRIS Respondents offer entertainment and communications hardware and

software, and services relating to television, Internet, and network access. Their customers

include cable and telephone service providers, digital broadcast satellite operators, and media

programmers that offer media, voice, and IP data services. The ARRIS Respondents offer

Internet Protocol Television (“IPTV”) distribution systems, broadband access infrastructure

platforms, and associated data and voice customer premises equipment such as set-top boxes and

media gateways, leased through service providers and sold directly to consumers through retail

channels. They also offer technical support, repair and refurbishment, and system design and

integration services. See Exhibit 12.

38. On information and belief, the ARRIS Respondents design, develop, manufacture

(or have manufactured on their behalf), import into the United States, sell for importation into
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the United States, and/or sell after importation into the United States the Accused Products that

infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, including Accused Products imported bearing one

or more Comcast brand names or trade names, such as Comcast’s Xfinity logo. See, e.g.,

Exhibits 16-19. .

C. Universal Electronics Respondents

39. Universal Electronics Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its headquarters at 201

E. Sandpointe Avenue, 8th Floor, Santa Ana, California 92707. On information and belief, all

other Universal Electronics Respondents are direct or indirect subsidiaries of Universal

Electronics Inc. Upon information and belief, Universal Electronics Inc. is involved in the

design, development, distribution, importation into the United States, sale for importation into

the United States, and/or sale after importation into the United States of Accused Products,

including certain voice-enabled remote control devices sold to Comcast Cable.

40'. Gemstar Technology (China) C0., Ltd., Gemstar Technology (Qinzhou) C0. Ltd.,

and Gemstar Technology (Yangzhou) Co. Ltd. are companies organized under the laws of the

People’s Republic of China (collectively, the “Gemstar Companies”). On information and belief,

the Gemstar Companies are wholly owned subsidiaries of Universal Electronics lnc. Also upon

information and belief, the Gemstar Companies are involved in at least the manufacture,

distribution, and/or sale for importation of Accused Products, including certain voice-enabled

remote control devices, for and to Comcast Cable.

41. Universal Electronics, including the above-named subsidiaries, develops control

and sensor technology and manufactures remote control products, audio-video accessories, and

intelligent wireless security and automation components relating to home entertainment and

security. Universal Electronics sells remote control devices primarily to subscription

broadcasting providers (cable, satellite, and IPTV), original equipment manufacturers (“OEMS”),
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retailers, and private label customers. Universal Electronics also sells integrated circuits with

embedded software and databases to OEMs, subscription broadcasting providers, and private

label customers, as well as software, firmware, and technology solutions to enable TVs, set-top

boxes, and other devices to Wirelessly connect and interact with home networks and interactive

services to control and deliver digital entertainment and information. See Exhibit 4.

42. On information and belief, the Universal Electronics Respondents design,

develop, manufacture (or have manufactured on their behalf), import into the United States, sell

for importation into the United States, and/or sell after importation into the United States

Accused Products that infringe the ’389 Patent, which upon information and belief are

manufactured outside the United States and imported into the United States bearing one or more

Comcast brand names or trade names, such as Comcast’s Xfinity logo. See, e.g., Exhibit 16.

IV. THE ACCUSED PRODUCTS-AT-ISSUE

43. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(12), the category of the Accused Products may

be plainly described as set-top boxes or TV boxes, with or without DVR capabilities, and voice

enabled remote control devices used with the Xfinity X1 service marketed and sold by the

Comcast Respondents or for Respondents, including products that incorporate software based on

C0mcast’s Xfinity X1 reference design kit (“RDK”). Sections VI.E, infra, detail specific

instances of the unlawful importation, sale for importation and/or sale and/or lease after

importation of the Accused Products.

44. Exemplary Accused Products manufactured by the ARRIS Respondents that

infringe the Asserted Patents include, but are not limited to, the following sct-top boxes: ARRIS

Motorola XG1-A, ARRIS-Motorola ACQ-XG1, ARRIS-Motorola MX01IAN M, ARRIS

Motorola MXO11BNM, ARRIS-Motorola AX()13AN, ACQ-AXO13ANM, ARRIS XG1-V3,

ARRIS-Motorola XG5, ARRIS-Motorola MG2404, ARRIS-Motorola Xi3, Pace XG1-P, Pace
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PX001ANM, Pace PXOOIBNM, Pace PXOOIANC,Pace PX012ANM, Pace PX012ANC, Pace

PXO13ANM, Pace XG1-V3, Pace PX013ANC, Pace XG2, Pace Xi3, Pace Xi5, Paoe XiD X1,

Pace XG2v2-P, XG2 Gateway, Pace PRISOBNM X1, Pace PR150BNC, Pace PX022ANM, Pace

PXOZZANC,and Pace PXDOIANI.

45. Exemplary Accused Products manufactured by the Universal Electronics l

Respondents that infringe at least the ’389 Patent also include, but are not limited to, the Xfinity

XR11 voice-enabled remote control.

46. This identification of exemplary Accused Products is intended for illustration and

is not intended to limit the scope of the investigation. Any remedy should extend to all present

and future infringing products made by or for the ARRIS Respondents or Universal Electronics

Respondents for ultimate sale to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to customers by Comcast Cable.

V. THE PATENTS-AT-ISSUE

A. U.S. Patent N0. 6,345,389

47. The ’389 Patent is entitled “Interactive Television System and Method for

Converting Non-Textual Information to Textual Information by a Remote Server.” It issued on

February 5, 2002, to assignee OpenTV. The named inventor is Vincent Dureau. The ’389 Patent

issued from United States Patent Application No. 09/176,611, filed on October 21, 1998. See

Exhibit 1. '

48. OpenTV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’389

Patent. As required by Rule 2'l0.12(a)(9)(ii), certified copies of the recorded assignment

documents related to the ’389 Patent accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 13.

49. As required by Rule 210.12(c), Appendix A to this Complaint includes a certified

copy and three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’389 Patent and Appendix D to
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this Complaint includes four copies of each technical reference cited in the prosecution history of

the 7389 Patent.

B. U.S. Patent N0. 7,028,327

50. The ’327 Patent is entitled “Using the Electronic Program Guide to Synchronize

Interactivity with Broadcast Programs.” It issued on April 11, 2006, to assignee Wink

Communication. The named inventors are Brian P. Dougherty and C. Leo Meier. The ’327

Patent issued from United States Patent Application No. 09/538,602, filed on March 29, 2000. It

claims priority from U.S. Provisional Application No. 60/179,825, filed on February 2, 2000. See

Exhibit 2.

51. OpenTV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’327

Patent. As required by Rule 210.12(a)(9)(ii), certified copies of the recorded assignment

doctunents related to the ’327 Patent accompany this Complaint as Exhibits 14A and 14B.

52. As required by Rule 21O.12(c), Appendix B to this Complaint includes a certified

copy and three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’327 Patent and Appendix E to

this Complaint includes four copies of each technical reference cited in the prosecution history of

the ’327 Patent.

C. U.S. Patent N0. 7,725,720

53. The ’720 Patent is entitled “Method for Generating and Managing a Local Area

Network.” lt issued on May 25, 2010, to assignee Nagravision. The named inventor is Guy

Moreillon. The ’720 Patent issued from United States Patent Application No. 10/564,544, filed

on January 13, 2006. See Exhibit 3.

54. Nagravision is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the

’720 Patent. As required by Rule 210.12(a)(9)(ii), certified copies of the recorded assignment

documents related to the ’720 Patent accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 15.
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55., As required by Rule 21O.12(c), Appendix C to this Complaint includes a certified

copy and three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’72OPatent and Appendix F to

this Complaint includes four copies of each technical reference cited in the prosecution history of

the ’720 Patent.

D. Nontechnical Description of the Inventions of Asserted Patents4

56. As required by Rule 21O.12(a)(9)(vi), thc ’389 Patent can be described in non

technical terms as disclosing and claiming, among other things, systems, apparatuses, and

methods for providing user input to an application executing on an interactive television system

wherein a user provides non-textual information to the interactive television system and this

information is converted by a server to textual information which is provided as an input to the

application. For example, a user could give a voice command that thedisclosed invention would

translate into text. The disclosed invention would then use that text to operate the interactive

television system, such as by changing the channel. This makes watching and using interactive

television systems easier, more efficient, and more engaging.

57. In non-technical terms, the ’327 Patent discloses and claims, among other things,

methods of controlling broadcast and reception of an interactive application to maintain

synchronization of the interactive application and its respective broadcast program. For example,

an electronic program guide is used to determine an interactive application associated with a

broadcast program. When there is a break in a television show, for example during a commercial,

a command is generated to suspend execution of the interactive application during the break.

4These non-technical descriptions of the Asserted Patents are intended to provide a generalized
explanation of the patent rather than a legal description of its metes and bounds. Accordingly,
this non-technical description should not be used for purposes of claim construction, invalidity,
or non-infringement, or other argument or analysis.
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This allows automated control of interactivity to maintain synchronous display of the

interactivity and its respective broadcast program.

58. In non-teclmical terms, the ’720 Patent discloses and claims, among other things,

apparatuses and methods for creating and managing secure local area networks. For example, in

a home network connecting two devices, a local key and a network key are used to securely

transfer data within the network. In this way, the invention of the ’720 Patent reduces security

vulnerabilities present in conventional local area networks.

E. Foreign Patents and Patent Applications Corresponding to the Asserted
Patents

59. In accordance with Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the following foreign patents and

foreign applications correspond to the ’389 Patent: WO0O24198 (A1); JP2002528808 (A);

JP4555480 (B2); HK1042001 (A1); ES2207315 (T3); EP1127462 (A1); EPl127462 (B1);

DE699l0813 (T2); CNl326641 (A); CN1130913 (C); CA2347006 (A1); BR9914740 (A);

AU1905700 (A); AU755646 (B2); and AT248483 (T).

60. The following foreign patents and patent applications correspond to the ’i327

Patent: AT436154 (T); AU348Ol0l (A); CA2399103 (A1); EP126975O (B1); HK1049249 (A1)

JP2003522484 (A); MXPA02007433 (A); and WO0158159 (A1).

61. The following foreign patents and patent applications correspond to the ’720

Patent: AU2004300766 (A1), BRPI0411834 (A), CA2532525 (Al), CN1820482 (A),

CN1820482 (B), EP1645100 (A1), EP1645100 (B1), JP2007528145 (A), KR20060052781 (A),

MXPA06000364 (A), MY140199 (A), RU2006100274 (A), UA86590 (C2), W'O2(](J50U6706

(Al). l

62. Complainants are unaware of any other foreign patent applications that are

currently pending or that have been withdrawn, denied, or abandoned.
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VI. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS - PATENT INFRINGEMENT

63. All Respondents, individually and/or jointly, directly and/or indirectly infringe,

literally.and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, one or more of the Asserted Patents with the

Accused Products that are manufactured and/or assembled outside of the United States and, by or

on behalf of Respondents, imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United

States, and/or sold and/or leased after importation into the United States. Respondents’

infringement is discussed more fully below. I

64. Upon information and belief, to the extent the infringing acts involve activities of

Comcast Cable, the ARRIS Respondents, and the Universal Electronics Respondents, ,

Respondents’ infringement of the ASS€I'I€ClPatents is joint, as (1) express agreements exist

between and among Comcast Cable, on the one hand, and the ARRIS Respondents and the

Universal Electronics Respondents, on the other hand, which agreements relate to design,

manufacture, importation, distribution, and/or sale and/or lease of the Accused Products;

(2) there exists a common purpose between Comcast Cable, on the one hand, and the ARRIS

Respondents and the Universal Electronics Respondents, on the other hand, including relating to

the distribution of Accused Products and delivery of Comcast Pay-TV services to subscribers;

and (3) there is a community of pecuniary interest in that purpose among Respondents, who

profit from the delivery and expansion of the Comcast Pay-TV services.

65. In addition, upon information and belief Comcast exercises direction or control

over the ARRIS Respondents and the Universal Electronics Respondents with respect to the

design, development, manufacture, importation, sale for importation, and/or sale and/or lease

after importation, of the Accused Products, by instructing the ARRIS Respondents and the

Universal Electronics Respondents to make, program, configure and/or import the Accused
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Products according to Comcast’s specifications, including through the use of Comeast Cable’s

software RDK.

66. The Respondents have violated and are continuing to violate Section 337 with

respect to the Asserted Patents. However, because it is difficult to identify all sources of

infringing articles, including but not limited to any contract manufacturers which Respondents

may use for manufacture of Accused Products and distributors which Respondents may use to

import Accused Products into the country, and because discovery may reveal additional

violations of Section 337 with respect to additional claims of the Asserted Patents, Kudelski

reserves all rights to seek leave to supplement its allegations to identify additional respondents

that have violated Section 337 with respect to the Asserted Patents, and/or to assert additional

claims of the Asserted Patents against Respondents.

A. Knowledge of the Asserted Patents and Infringing Activity

67. The Comeast Cable Respondents were aware of the ’389 and ’327 Patents and

Respondents’ infringing activity at least as early as November 12, 2015. On October 26, 2016,

Comeast Communications, LLC, filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the

Northern District of California against OpenTV and Nagravision seeking a declaratory judgment

of non-infringement of the ’389 and ’327 Patents, among others. That case is captioned as

Comeast Cable Communications, LLC v. OpenTV,Inc., et al., No. 5:16-ev-06180-NC (N.D.

Cal.). (the “N.D. Cal. Action”).5 In alleging the basis for the Cotu't’s declaratory judgment

jurisdiction in the N.D. Cal. Action, the plaintiffs cite and attach a presentation they allegedly

5On December 27, 2016, plaintiffs in the N.D. Cal. Action filed a First Amended Complaint in
the N.D. Cal. Action, adding additional patents for which it is seeking a declaratory judgment of
non-infringement, including the ’720 Patent.
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received on November 12, 2015, from a Kudelski employee discussing ’389 and ’327 Patents.

See id. Dkt. No. 1 illl 21-23 & Compl. Ex. 1.

68. The Comcast Cable Respondents were also aware of the ’72OPatent and

Respondents’ infringing activity no later than on or about December 5, 2016. On that day,

Nagravision filed and subsequently served a Complaint in the United States District Court for the

Eastern District of Texas for infringement of the ’720 Patent, among others. That case is

captioned as Nagravision SA v. Comcast Corporation, et al., No. 2:16-cv-01362-JPG (E.D. Tex.)

(“E.D. Tex. Action”).

69. In addition, Kudelski is providing copies of this Complaint for each Respondent

for service by the Commission, and will provide copies of supporting confidential complaint

exhibits upon a request by outside counsel of each Respondent who agree to be bound by a

suitable non-disclosure agreement. This expressly provides Respondents with knowledge of the

Asserted Patents and their infringing acts, to the extent Respondents contend they did not

previously have such knowledge, so that continuing acts by Respondents between the filing of

this Complaint and the institution of an investigation by the Commission, as well as thereafter,

demonstrate continuing intent by Respondents to induce others to infringe and contribute to the

infringement by others of the Asserted Patents.

70. In addition, upon information and belief, the Respondents were aware of the

Asserted Patents or will have knowledge of the Asserted Patents and their infringing activities

based on the public filing of this Complaint, and subsequent Commission notices.

B. Representative Involved Articles

71. On information and belief, Respondents design, develop, manufacture (or have

manufactured on their behalf), import into the United States, sell for importation into the United

States, and/or sell and/or lease after importation into the United States the Accused Products that
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directly or indirectly infringe, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, Claims 1, 2, 9, 10,

11, 13, 14, 15, and l6 ofthe ’389 Patent; Claims 13 and 36 ofthe ’327 Patent; and Claims 1, 2,

5, and 8 of the ’720 Patent, as explained further below.

72. The Comcast Cable Respondents offer digital television services to customers in

the United States under their Xfinity X1 brand, and sell and/or lease set-top boxes and remote

control devices to U.S. subscribers that are manufactured by the ARRIS Respondents and

Universal Electronics Respondents, respectively, outside the United States and then imported

into the United States. By way of example, Complainants have obtained six Xfinity X1-branded

set-top boxes manufactured by ARRIS:

I One ARRIS ACQ-XGIV3 (AX013ANM) Set-Top Box, leased to a U.S.

subscriber by Comcast Cable using its Xfinity X1 brand; S

0 Two Pace (now ARRIS) XGIV3 (PX013ANM) Set-Top Boxes, one of which is

leased to a U.S. subscriber by Comcast Cable using its Xfinity X1 brand;

0 One Pace (now ARRIS) XG2v2-P (PXO22ANC) Set-Top Box;

0 One Pace (now ARRIS) XG2v2-P (PXO22ANM) Set-Top Box, leased to a U.S.

subscriber by Comcast Cable using its Xfinity X1 brand; and

0 4One Pace (now ARRIS) Xi3 (PX032ANI) Set-Top Box.

See Exhibit 16 (Sunderland Declaration) at llil5-26 & Ex. A, B & C; see also Exhibits 17, 18,

and 19'(product photos). Upon information and belief, each of these products was manufactured

or assembled outside the United States and imported by or for Respondents.

73. Complainants have also obtained three XR11 voice-enabled remote control

devices manufactured by Universal Electronics. See Exhibit 16 at 1l1l7, 14, 21 & Ex. A, B & C.

These remote control devices are leased to U.S. subscribers by Comcast Cable using its Xfinity
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X1 brand. See id. Upon information and belief, each of these products was manufactured or

assembled outside the United States and imported by or for Respondents.

74. Upon information and belief, the preceding exemplary Accused Products are

representative of other products that are made by or for the ARRIS Respondents and Universal

Electronics Respondents that are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold and/or leased in the

United States after importation for ultimate sale to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to customers by

Comcast Cable that feature the ‘sameor substantially similar functionality as the exemplary

products. Accordingly, on information and belief, Complainants allege that other products, and

components thereof, made by or for the ARRIS Respondents and Universal Electronics

Respondents and ultimately sold to Comcast Cable that are covered by the Asserted Claims of

the Asserted Patents have been and are being imported, sold for importation, and/or sold and/or

leased in the United States after importation. Any remedy issued in this investigation should thus

not be limited to the exemplary model numbers set forth herein, but should reach all present and

future infringing products, and components thereof made by or for the ARRIS Respondents and

Universal Electronics Respondents for ultimate sale to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to customers

by Comcast Cable to the extent such products are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold in

the United States after importation.

C. Direct Infringement

1. Direct Infringement of the ’389 Patent

75. The ARRIS exemplary product Pace XGIV3 (PX013ANM) and Universal

Electronics XR11 product, branded for Xfinity (Comcast Cable), are consumer premises

equipment capable of using non-textual inputs in an interactive television application in the

manner set forth in the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent. See, e.g., Exhibit 16 at Ex. A; Exhibit

17. Exhibit 20 includes a chart comparing independent claims 1 and 11 of the ’389 Patent to the
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Pace XG1V3 (PXO13ANM) with the XR11, an Xfinity-branded set-top box and voice-enabled

remote control, respectively. This exhibit shows that Comcast Cable Accused Products are

covered by at least claims 1 and 11 of the ’389 Patent. For example, the system recited in claim 1

of the ’389 Patent is formed when the Pace XGIV3 (PXO13ANM) with XR11 remote control is

coupled to a Comcast server configured to convert voice inputs into textual information. See id.

2. Direct Infringement of the ’327Patent

_. 76. The ARRIS exemplary product Pace XG1V3 (PXO13ANM) product, branded for

Xfinity (Comcast Cable), is consumer premises equipment which controls interactivity to

maintain synchronous display of the interactivity and its respective broadcast program in a

manner covered by the ’327 Patent. See Exhibit 16 at Ex. A; Exhibit 17. Exhibit 21 includes

charts comparing independent claim 13 of the ’327 Patent to use of the Pace XGIV3

(PXO13ANM) product, an Xfinity-branded set-top box. This exhibit shows that the use of the

Accused Products is covered by at least claim l3 of the ’327 Patent. For example, the method of

claim 13 is performed when a user watches a television show using the Pace XGIV3

(PX013ANM), wherein execution of an interactive application associated with the television

show is suspended. See id.

3. Direct Infringement of the ’720Patent

77. The ARRIS exemplary products Pace XG1V3 (PX013ANM) and Pace Xi3

(PXO32ANl) products, branded for Xfinity (Comcast Cable), are consumer premises equipment

with which users create and manage local area networks in a manner covered by the ’720 Patent.

See Exhibit 16 at Ex. A; Exhibits 17 and 19. Exhibit 22 includes charts comparing independent '

claim 1 of the ’720 Patent to the set-up and use of the Pace XG1V3 (PX()13ANM) with the Pace

Xi3 (PX032ANI), both being Xfinity-branded set-top boxes. This exhibits show that the use of

these Accused Products together is covered by at least claim l of the ’720 Patent. For example,
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the method of claim 1 is performed when a user follows Comcast’s instructions to set up and use

a local network that includes the Pace XG1V3 (PX013ANM) and Pace Xi3 devices. See id.

D. Indirect Infringement

78. To the extent the infringing acts involve software designed or made by Comcast

Cable alone or through a joint effort of Comcast Cable and the other Respondents, or

downloaded to or otherwise made available on an Accused Product after importation, and/or that

involves the use of Comcast services, applications, or network infrastructure or systems that

enable the Comcast services, all Respondents induce infringement and/or contribute to

infringement of one or more of the Asserted Patents by at least Comcast Cable’s customers. The

Accused Products cannot be operated without such software and/or use of Comeast’s network

infrastructure or systems. Moreover, as to contributory infringement, the Accused Products are

not staple articles of commerce and have no substantial non-infringing uses.

1. Indirect Infringement by the Comcast Cable Respondents

a) Induced Infringement

79. The Comcast Cable Respondents induce infringement of the Asserted Claims of

the Asserted Patents by knowingly and intentionally encouraging and/or aiding at least end-user

Comcast Cable subscribers to directly infringe the Asserted Patents, literally or under the

doctrine of equivalents. See Exhibits 20, 21 & 22. To the extent that the ARRIS Respondents,

Universal Electronics Respondents, or others test the Accused Products in the United States in

ways that infringe the Asserted Patents, Comcast Cable also induces infringement by these

Respondents or others.

80. For example, the Comcast Cable Respondents induce Comcast Cable subscribers

to infringe the Asserted Patents by providing the Accused Products and instructions to Xfinity

X1 subscribers to encourage, enable and facilitate such subscribers to use the Accused Products
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in an infringing manner. For example, Comcast markets the Accused Products and related

sen/ices to subscribers; works with its customers to implement and install the Accused Products;

instructs its customers how to use the infringing functionalities; fully supports and manages its

customers’ continued use of the Accused Products; and provides technical assistance to

customers during their continued use of the Accused Products, all while knowing of the Asserted

Patents. See, e.g., Exhibit 20 (’389 Patent), Exhibit 21 (’327 Patent), and Exhibit 22 at 2, 4, 7 &

11-14 (’720 Patent). Comcast Cable subscribers directly infringe the Asserted Patents by using

the Accused Products in their intended manner. See Exhibits 20, 21 & 22.

81. To the extent the ARRIS Respondents, Universal Electronics Respondents, or

others test or otherwise use the Accused Products in infringing ways within the United States,

Comcast induces such infringement by providing the specifications, know-how, and technical

support to these Respondents and others to enable and facilitate infringement, knowing of the

Asserted Patents.

82. ' Upon information and belief, Comcast Cable specifically intends that its actions

will result in infringement of the Asserted Patents, or subjectively believes that its actions will

result in infringement of the Asserted Patents but has taken deliberate actions to avoid learning

those facts.

P b) Contributory Infringement

83. Comcast Cable contributorily infringes the Asserted Claims of the Asserted

Patents. Upon information and belief, and with knowledge of the Asserted Patents, Comcast

Cable continues to import, sell, lease, and/or offer for sale/lease the Accused Products that

embody a material part of the claimed inventions of each of the Asserted Patents, that are not

staple articles with substantial non-infringing uses, and that are known by it to be specially made

or adapted for use in an infringing manner. When Comcast Cable’s customers use the Accused
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Products in their intended manner, those customers directly infringe the Asserted Claims of the

Asserted Patents. See Exhibits 20, 21 & 22. The Accused Products are specially designed to

infringe the Asserted Patents, and their accused components have no substantial non-infringing

uses. A

84. For example, the Comcast Cable Respondents sell and/or lease accused set-top

boxes Withvoice-enabled remote control devices specifically made to be coupled with a remote

server in a manner covered by the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent. Similarly, the Comcast

Cable Respondents sell and/or lease set-top boxes specially made such that a user using the

devices in their intended manner will perform the methods of the Asserted Claims of the ’327

and ’720 Patents.

2. Indirect Infringement by the ARRIS Respondents

a) Induced Infringement

85. The ARRIS Respondents induce infringement of the Asserted Patents by

knowingly and intentionally encouraging and/or aiding at least end-user Comcast Cable

subscribers to directly infringe the Asserted Patents, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents

See Exhibits 20, 21 & 22. To the extent that Comcast Cable, the Universal Electronics

Respondents, or others test the Accused Products in the United States in ways that infringe the

Asserted Patents, ARRIS also induces infringement by these Respondents or others.

86. For example, the ARRIS Respondents induce Comcast Cable subscribers to

infringe the Asserted Patents by encouraging, enabling and facilitating infringement, including

by providing the Accused Products, which are specifically designed to infringe, knowing and

intending the Accused Products will be used to infringe. For example, upon information and

belief, the ARRIS Respondents design and develop the Accused Products in coordination with

Comcast Cable, based on specifications from or developed with Comcast Cable, specifically to

_ _



provide the characteristics and functionalities that enable and facilitate infringement by users.

Upon information and belief, the ARRIS Respondents also design and develop, or assist in such

design and development of the user interfaces, installation guides, and other product

documentation that instruct Comcast Cable’s customers how to use the Accused Products in an

infringing manner. See, e.g., Exhibit 20 (’389 Patent), Exhibit 21 (’327 Patent), and Exhibit 22 at

2, 4, 7 & 11-14 (’72OPatent). Comcast Cable subscribers directly infringe the Asserted Patents

by using the Accused Products in their intended manner.

87. To the extent the Comcast Cable, the Universal Electronics Respondents, or

others test or otherwise use the Accused Products in infringing ways within the United States,

ARRIS induces such infringement by providing Accused Products specifically designed and

developed to provide the characteristics and functionalities that enable and facilitate

infringement by users, knowing of the Asserted Patents. See, e.g., Exhibit 20 (’389 Patent),

Exhibit 21 (’327 Patent), and Exhibit 22 at 2, 4, 7 & ll-14 (’720 Patent).

88. Upon information and belief, the ARRIS Respondents specifically intend that

their actions will result in infringement of the Asserted Patents, or subjectively believe that their

actions will result in infringement of the Asserted Patents but have taken deliberate actions to

avoid learning of those facts.

b) Contributory Infringement

89. The ARRIS Respondents contributorily infringe the Asserted Claims of the

Asserted Patents. Upon information and belief, and with knowledge of the Asserted Patents, the

ARRIS Respondents continue to import, sell for importation, sell, and/or offer for sale after

importation the Accused Products that embody a material part of the claimed inventions of each

of the Asserted Patents, that are not staple articles with substantial non-infringing uses, and that

are known by them to be specially made or adapted for use in an infringing manner. When
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Comcast Cable’s customers use the Accused Products in their intended manner, Comcast Cable’s

customers directly infringe the Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents. The Accused Products

are specially designed to infringe the Asserted Patents, and their accused components have no

substantial non-infringing uses. .

90. For example, the ARRIS Respondents sell accused set-top boxes specifically

designed to be used with voice-enabled remote control devices and coupled with a remote server

in a manner covered by the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent. Similarly, the ARRIS

Respondents sell set-top boxes specially made such that a user using the devices in their intended

mannerwill perform the methods of the Asserted Claims of the ’327 and ’720 Patents.

3. Indirect Infringement by the Universal Electronics Respondents

a) Induced Infringement

_ 91. The Universal Electronics Respondents induce infringement of the Asserted

Claims of the ’389 Patent by knowingly and intentionally encouraging and/or aiding at least end

user Comcast Cable subscribers to directly infringe the ’389 Patent, literally or under the

doctrine of equivalents. See Exhibit 20. To the extent that Comcast Cable, the ARRIS

Respondents, or others test-the Accused Products in the United States in ways that infringe the

’389 Patent, Universal Electronics also induces infringement by these Respondents or others.

92. For example, the Universal Electronics Respondents induce Comcast Cable

subscribers to infringe the ’389 Patent by encouraging, enabling and facilitating infringement,

including by providing the Accused Products, which are specifically designed to infringe,

knowing and intending the Accused Products will be used to infringe. For example, upon

information and belief, the Universal Electronics Respondents also design and develop, or assist

in such design and development of the Accused Products in coordination with Comcast Cable,

based on specifications from or developed with Comcast Cable, specifically to provide the
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characteristics and functionalities that enable and facilitate infringement by users. Upon

information and belief, the Universal Electronics Respondents also design and develop, or assist

in such design and development of the installation guides and other product documentation that

instruct Comcast Cable’s customers how to use the Accused Products in an infringing manner.

See, e.g., Exhibit 20. Comcast Cable subscribers directly infringe the ’389 Patent by using the

Accused Products in their intended manner.

93. To the extent the Comcast Cable, the ARRIS Respondents, or others test or

otherwise use the Accused Products in infringing ways Within the United States, Universal

Electronics induces such infringement by providing Accused Products specifically designed and

developed to provide the characteristics and functionalities that enable and facilitate

infringement by users, knowing of the ’389 Patent. See, e.g., Exhibit 20.

94. Upon information and belief, the Universal Electronics Respondents specifically

intend that their actions will result in infringement of the claims of the ’389 Patent, or

subjectively believe that their actions will result in infringement of the ’389 Patent but have

taken deliberate actions to avoid learning of those facts.

b) Contributory Infringement

95. The Universal Electronics Respondents contributorily infringe the Asserted

Claims of the ’389 Patent. Upon information and belief, and with knowledge of the ‘389 Patent,

the Universal Electronics Respondents continue to import, sell for importation, sell and/or offer

for sale after importation the Accused Products that embody a material part of the Claimed

invention of the ’389 Patent, that are not staple articles with substantial no11-infringinguses, and

that are known by them to be specially made or adapted for use in an infringing manner. When

Comcast Cable’s customers use the Accused Products of Universal Electronics in their intended

manner, Comcast Cable’s customers directly infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent.
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The Accused Products are specially designed to infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent,

and their accused components have no substantial non-infringing uses.

96. For example, the Universal Electronics Rcspondents sell accused voice-enabled

remote control devices specifically designed to be used with set-top boxes and coupled with a

remote server in a manner covered by the Asserted Claims of the ’389 Patent.

E. Specific Instances of Sale and Importation

97. The exemplary ARRIS ACQ-XG1V3 (AXO13ANM)product, branded for Xfinity

(Comcast Cable), was manufactured outside the United States, and bears a sticker indicating it

was made in Taiwan. See Exhibit 16 at ll 17 & Ex. B. Complainants’ counsel received this set

top box from a Comcast Service Center or Representative in the United States. See id. at llll 12

18, 26.

98. The two exemplary Pace (now ARRIS) XGIV3 (PX013ANM) products, branded

for Xfinity (Comcast Cable), were manufactured outside the United States, and bear stickers

indicating each was made in Thailand. See id. at Ex. A; Exhibit 17. Complainants’ counsel

received one of these XG1V3 (PXOISANM) set-top boxes from a Comcast Service Center or

Representative in the United States. See Exhibit 16 at llll5-11, 26. Complainants’ agent obtained

the second XGl V3 (PX013ANM) set-top box from a third-party vendor in the United States.

99. The exemplary Pace (now ARRIS) XG2v2-P (PX022ANC) product, branded for

Xfinity (Comcast Cable), was manufactured outside the United States, and bears a sticker

indicating it was made in Thailand. See Exhibit 18. Complainants’ agent obtained this set-top

box from a third-party vendor in the United States.

100. The exemplary Pace (now ARRIS) XG2v2-P (PXOZZANM)set-top box, branded

for Xfinity (Comcast Cable), was manufactured outside the United States, and bears a sticker

indicating it was made in Thailand. See Exhibit 16 at ll 24 & Ex. C. Complainants’ counsel
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received this set-top box from a Comcast Service Center or Representative in the United States.

See id. at ‘I11119-26.

101. The exemplary Pace (now ARRIS) Xi3 (PX032ANI) set-top box, branded for

Xfinity (Comcast Cable), was manufactured outside of the United States, and bears a sticker

indicating it was made in China. See Exhibit 19. Complainants’ agent obtained the PX032ANI

set-top box from a third-party vendor in the United States.

102. The three XR11 voice-enabled remote control units, branded for Xfinity (Comcast

Cable), were manufactured outside the United States, and bear raised text indicating each unit

was assembled in China. See Exhibit 16 at ‘I11111, 18, 25 & Ex. A, B & C. Complainants’ counsel

received these remote control units from a Comcast Service Center or Representative in the

United States. See id. at W 7-8, 14~15, 21-22, 26.

VII. CLASSIFICATION OF THE INFRINGING PRODUCTS UNDER THE
HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE

103. The Accused Products are believed to fall within at least Heading Nos. 8525,

8528, 8529, 8537, and 8543 of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States (“HTS”).

More specifically, these devices may be classified under HTS subheadings 8525.50.10,

8528.71.20, 8529.90.01, 8537.10.00, and 8543.70.9650. These classifications are intended for

illustration only and are not intended to be restrictive of the Accused Products, or of any remedy

issued by the Commission.

VIII. LICENSEES

104. Pursuant to Rule 210(a)(9)(iii), attached as Exhibit 23 is a list of entities to which

Kudelski has licensed one or more of the Asserted Patents.
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IX. COMPLAINANTS SATISFY THE DOMESTIC INDUSTRY REQUIREMENT

105. An industry in the United States exists in connection with each of the ‘389, ‘327,

and ‘720 Patents, as required by Section 337(a)(2) & (3). An industry is also in the process of

being established for the ‘389 patent. _

106. Specifically, a domestic industry exists or is in the process of being established

for the ’389 and ’720 patents pursuant to subparts (A) and (B) of Section 337(a)(3), by virtue of

Kudelski’s significant investments (through its subsidiaries) in product design, development, and

related activities in the United States. These significant investments relate to its OpenTV 5

middleware, and in the implementation of that middleware in articles that ‘practiceone or more

valid claims of the ’389 and ’720 Patents. Such articles include both OpenTV’s own products,

such as its intuiTV product, and other authorized articles of its licensees.

107. A domestic industry separately exists for the ’389 and ’327 patents pursuant to

subparts (A)-(C) of Section 337(a)(3), by virtue of Kudelski’s substantial investments (through

its subsidiaries) in successful licensing activities in the United States. These activities include

activities related to licensing the ’389 and ’327 Patents. One or more valid claims of these

licensed patents are also practiced either by OpenTV’s products or by the products of its

licensees, including two products of a confidential licensee (“Confidential Licensee” and

“Confidential Licensee’s Products”).

A. The Technical Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement is Satisfied

108. Claim charts and explanatory information for exemplary OpenTV and licensed

products that currently practice at least one exemplary claim of the Asserted Patents accompany

this Complaint. See Exhibits 24 (chart for claims of ’389 patent practiced by OpenTV intuiTV);

Exhibits 25 and 26 (charts for claims of ’389 and ‘327 patents practiced by Confidential
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Licensee’s Products); and 27 (chart for claims of ‘72Opatent practiced by licensee NET Brazil

product).

109. Exemplary products that correspond to the Asserted Patents include:

Patent Domestic Industry Technical Prong Products ‘ ClaimsPracticed
’389 Patent I OpenTV: OpenTV intuiTV with OpenTV 5 middleware 1*, 2, 9, 10,

. . 1 *

I Confidential L1censee’sProducts (see Ex. 25) 1; ii’
. 22

’327 Patent Confidential Liccnsec’s Products (see Ex. 26) l 13*, 36°
’720 Patent OpenTV: 3P and 2T set-top boxes with OpenTV 5 1*, 5, 87

middleware branded for NET Brazil.

1. Practice of the ’389Patent

110. OpenTV’s intuiTV product with OpenTV 5 middleware practices, literally and/or

under the doctrine of equivalents, at least the interactive television system recited in exemplary

claim 1 of the ’389 Patent, as well as independent apparatus claim 11, and dependent claims 2, 9,

10, 13, 14, and 15. A user using the intuiTV product also practices the claimed methods recited

in independent claim 17, and dependent claims 21 and 22. Exhibit 24 is a claim chart that

6On information and belief, users of the Confidential Licensee’s Products also may practice,
literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, the methods claimed in claims 14, 15, 25, 33,
and 34, one of Claims 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 24, one of Claims 28 and 29, and one of
Claims 30 and 31 of the ’327 Patent. Complainants believe that information obtained through
discovery will help determine whether these claims are practiced. Once Complainants determine
additional claims are practiced, Complainants will promptly seek leave to amend the Complaint
to add these additional claims as claims practiced by'Confidential Licensee’s Products.

7On information and belief, users of the NET Brazil 3P and 2T set-top boxes also may practice,
literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, the methods claimed in dependent claims 2, 4,
10 and ll of the ’720 Patent. Complainants believe that information obtained through discovery
will help determine whether these claims are practiced. Once Complainants determine additional
claims are practiced, Complainants will promptly seek leave to amend the Complaint to add
these additional claims as claims practiced by the NET Brazil products.
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discloses how the intuiTV product is a system that practices at least exemplary claim 1 of the

’389 Patent. OpenTV directly practices the ’389 Patent by using and/or testing its intuiTV

product. See Exhibit 7 at ilil8-9. OpenTV also indirectly practices the ’389 Patent by providing

the intuiTV product to engineers, testers, and other users who directly practice the ’389 Patent by

forming the claimed television system and apparatus and by using the products to perform the

claimed methods.

111. On information and belief, users of Confidential Licensee’s Products also

practice, literallyiand/or under the doctrine of equivalents, at least the method recited in

exemplary claim 1 of the ’389 Patent, as well as independent claims 11 and 17, and dependent

claims 2, 9, 10, 13, 14, 15, 21, and 22. Exhibit 25 is a claim chart that discloses how users of

Confidential Licensee’s Products practice at least exemplary method claim 1 of the ’389 Patent.

Confidential Licensee is a licensee of the ’389 Patent. Upon information and belief, Confidential

Licensee also directly practices the ’389 Patent by using and/or testing Confidential Lieensee’s

Products. Confidential Licensee also indirectly practices the ’389 Patent by providing

Confidential Licensee’s products to customers who directly practice the ’389 Patent by using the

products.

2. 4 Practice of the ’327 Patent

112. On information and belief, users of Confidential Licensee’s Products practice,

literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, at least exemplary claim 13 of the ’327 Patent,

as well as dependent claim 36. Exhibit 26 is a claim chart that discloses how the method recited

in at least exemplary claim 13 of the ’327 Patent is practiced when Confidential Licensee’s

Products are used. Confidential Licensee is a licensee of the ’327 Patent. Confidential Licensee

directly practices the ’327 Patent by using and/or testing Confidential Lieensee’s Products.
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Confidential Licensee also indirectly practices the ’327 Patent by providing the Confidential

Licensee’s Products to customers who directly practice the ’327 Patent by using the products.

3. _ Practice of the ’720 Patent

113. Users of NET Brazil’s 3P and 2T set-top boxes operating OpenTV 5 middleware

practice, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, at least exemplary Claim 1 of the ’72O

Patent, as well as dependent claims 5 and 8. Exhibit 27 is a claim chart that discloses how users

of NET Brazil’s 3P and 2T set-top boxes operating OpenTV 5 middleware practice the method

claimed in at least exemplary claim l of the ’720 Patent. NET Brazil is a licensee of the ’720

Patent. OpenTV directly practices the ’72OPatent by using and/or testing the NET Brazil 3P and

2T set-top boxes operating OpenTV 5 middleware. See Exhibit 7 at 1l1l2-7. OpenTV also

indirectly practices the ’720 Patent by providing the NET Brazil 3P and 2T set-top boxes

operating OpenTV 5 middleware to engineers, testers, and other users who directly practice the

’720 Patent by using the set-top boxes.

B. The Economic Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement is Satisfied

114. A domestic industry under subparts (A) and (B) of Section 337(a)(3) exists for the

‘389 and ‘720 patents in connection with the products described above, by virtue of the

significant activities and investments within the United States of Kudelski and its subsidiaries.

These investments and activities include product development, engineering, testing, research,

product customization and integration, and/or post-sale support and repair of its OpenTV

middleware and related hardware products. These domestic investments are further detailed

below and in attached Confidential Exhibits 28 (Friedli Declaration) & Exhibit 29 (Chernesky

Declaration); An industry under subparts (A) and (B) is also in the process of being established

for the ‘389 patent, on the basis of Kudelski’s investments in OpenTV’s intuiTV product with

OpenTV 5 middleware.
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115. A domestic industry separately exists for the ’389 and ’327 patents in connection

with the products described above under subpart (A)-(C) of Section 337(a), by virtue of the

significant licensing-related investments and activities of Kudelski and its subsidiaries within the

United States.

1. Significant Investment in Plant and Equipment

116. Kudelski, through OpenTV, invests millions of dollars within the United States in

facilities and equipment, to support its efforts to develop its OpenTV S and intuiTV products.

117. Kudelski, through OpenTV, rents a facility in San Francisco, California. The

facility costs in the combined period of 2015 and 2016 YTD were significant. See Exhibit 28 at

llfl11-13. The San Francisco facility is eight floors and approximately 75,734 square feet, and a

significant portion of that facility is devoted to domestic industry activities. See id. This facility

is shown in the following photograph:
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118. In addition to the San Francisco facility, OpenTV rents a larger facility in

Mountain View, California. See id. at 1|16. Its rental expenses for this facility in the combined

period of 2015 and 2016 YTD were also significant. See id. at 1115. OpenTV has made

continuing investments in the improvement of this physical space. See id. The Mountain View

facility is shown in the following photograph:

ii?’:_‘>“*"‘*
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119. Kudelski’s San Francisco and Mountain View facilities contain equipment and

other assets worth millions of dollars that are used for engineering, research, and product

development connected with the domestic industry. See id. at ilil 10, 13-14, 17-19, 27.

2. Significant Employment of Labor and Capital

120. Kudelski’s OpenTV facilities in San Francisco and Mountain View are home to

numerous salaried employees involved in engineering, software development, information

technology, research and development, among other work. See id. at ‘H1112, 15-16.

121. OpenTV shares its Mountain View space with Nagra IP, Inc., which as detailed

below with respect to subsection (C) investments is involved in licensing Kudelsl<i’s
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technologies. Nagra IP is also a subsidiary of Complainant Nagra USA. See id. at 1I15; Exhibit

29 at 1t 13.

122. OpenTV engineers, software developers, customer support and integration

personnel, and project managers spend time developing new features for the existing OpenTV 5

middleware to include in future releases to new and existing customers. OpenTV developers also

spend time developing next generation products like intuiTV to offer new features to its

customers to remain competitive in the marketplace. OpenTV sales and marketing personnel "

spend time selling and marketing their products directly to customers and also showcasing their

next generation products at marketing shows around the world to gain media attention for their

upcoming features and products to develop interest in new and existing customers.

123. Kudelski’s compensation of U.S.-based OpenTV employees working on

OpenTV 5 development totals millions of dollars. See Exhibit 28 at 111120-27.

3. Substantial Investment in Exploiting the Asserted Patents

124. Kudelski, through Nagra USA and Nagra IP, invests millions of dollars in labor,

facilities, and equipment in order to license its substantial intellectual property portfolio, which

prominently includes the ’327 and ‘389 Patents. See Exhibit 29 at 11113-5, 11—22,28.

_ 125. Nagra IP licensing professionals spend time studying technological and market

trends, investigating products on the market, obtaining and reviewing market reports,

commissioning and reviewing product studies with outside vendors, drafting and reviewing

evidence of use (EOU) presentations, preparing other sales and licensing presentations to

demonstrate the value of Kudelski’s patents and associated technologies, communicating or

preparing to communicate with new or existing customers about sales and licensing, preparing

for and attending meetings with potential licensees, negotiating the terms for agreements with

actual or potential licensees, assessing the patent or product landscape in connection with sales
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and licensing, working with outside counsel in connection with sales and licensing, drafting and

negotiating licensing agreements, and auditing licensees. See id. at Till5-7.

126. Kudelski, through Nagra IP, employs numerous U.S.-based employees whose

work directly advances Kudelski’s efforts to license the Asserted Patents. See id. at Till17-18.

Kudelski’s compensation of Nagra IP employees working to license Kudelski teelmologies totals

millions of dollars. See id. at ll 19.

127. ' In connection with its licensing business, Kudelski’s investments include

substantial facility and equipment costs, as well as payments to domestic contractors, outside

counsel, consultants, and other vendors who provide critical support for the development and

licensing of Kuclelski’s patents. See id. at Till5-6, 13-15, 20-22.

128. Since 2012, Nagra USA and Nagra IP have explored potential licensing

agreements with a large number of companies, and they have directly engaged many entities in

licensing discussions and litigation. See id. at 1l'll8-9.

129. Through this licensing business, Kudelski also has successfully licensed its

patents and technologies to numerous companies. In addition to Confidential Licensee and NET

Brazil, these companies include Google, Disney, Bloomberg, Verizon, Yahool, Apple, RPX,

Hulu, and VEVO, among others. See id. at ‘II7; see also Exhibits 30—37(press releases). Some of

these licensees have taken licenses from Kudelski repeatedly. See id. at 118.

130. In just the past two years, Nagra IP has finalized eleven patent licensing or cross

licensing agreements involving the Asserted Patents, resulting in significant royalties and

licensing fees. See id. at ll 9; Exhibit 23. Over half of these agreements resulted solely from ~

Nagra IP’s negotiation-driven licensing efforts. The remaining agreements resulted from

settlements reached after litigation and negotiations between the parties. These agreements
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represent business resolutions on par with the agreements reached without litigation. See Exhibit

29 at it'll9—1O.All of these licensees are headquartered in the United States. See id. at it 9; Exhibit

23.

131. The ’389 and ’327 Patents have been a focus of Kudelski’s portfolio licensing

efforts. Kudelski’s investments in licensing these particular patents have been both significant

and substantial. See Exhibit 29 at ‘llil27—31.

X. RELATED LITIGATION

132. As noted supra in Section VI, on December 5, 2016, Nagravision filed the E.D.

Texas Action, alleging infringement ofthe ’720 Patent, among others. The named defendants in

that action include several of the Comcast Cable Respondents named in this Complaint, as well "

as others: Comcast Corporation, Comcast Cable Communications, LLC, Comcast Cable

Communications Management, LLC, Comcast Business Communications, LLC, Comcast of

Houston, LLC, Comcast Holdings Corporation, and Comcast Shared Services, LLC.

133. Also as noted supra in Section VI, on October 26, 2016, Comcast Cable

Communications, LLC filed the N.D. Cal. Action, seeking a declaratory judgment of non

infringement of the ’389 and ’327 Patents, among others. Comcast Cable Communications, LLC

is a named Respondent in this Complaint. In addition to OpenTV, Nagravision SA is also a

named defendant in that action. On December 27, 2016, plaintiffs filed a First Amended

Complaint, seeking declaratory judgment of non-infringement of additional patents, including

the ’720 Patent.

134. On March 15, 2016, OpenTV filed a Complaint in the United States District Court

for the Central District of California against Hulu, LLC, alleging infringement of one or more

claims of the ’327 Patent, among other patents. That case is captioned as OpenT V,Inc. v. Hulu,
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LLC, No. 2:16-cv-01785-AB-PJW (C.D. Cal.). On August 5, 2016, the parties in that action filed

a Stipulation and Notice of Dismissal with Prejudice.

135. Other than the litigation specified above, to Kudelski’s knowledge, the Asserted

Patents are not and have not been the subject of any current or prior court or agency litigation.

XI. REQUESTED RELIEF

136. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainants request that the United

States International Trade Commission:

(a) institute an investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to the Proposed Respondents’ violations of Section 337

based on the unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United

States, and/or sale and/or lease within the United States after importation of products that

directly and/or indirectly infringe or facilitate infringement, literally or under the doctrine of

equivalents, of one or more claims of United States Patent Nos. 6,345,389, 7,028,327, and

7,725,720, as well as the unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into

the United States, and/or sale and/or lease within the United States after importation of

components thereof made by or for the proposed respondents;

(b) schedule and conduct a hearing on the unlawful acts and, following the hearing,

determine whether there has been a violation of Section 337;

(c) issue a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d) of the Tariff

Act of 1930, as amended, excluding from entry into the United States all digital television set-top

boxes, remote control devices, and components thereof made by or for the ARRIS Respondents

and Universal Electronics Respondents for ultimate sale to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to

customers by Comcast Cable that directly and/or indirectly infringe or facilitate infringement of

one or more claims of the United States Patent Nos. 6,345,389, 7,028,327, and 7,725,720;
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(d) issuc a permanent cease and desist order, pursuant to Section 337(f) of the Tariff Act

of 1930, as amended, prohibiting proposed respondents and related companies from at least

importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution,

offering for sale, selling, distributing, or using digital television set-top boxes, remote control

devices, and components thereof made by or for the ARRIS Respondents and Universal

Electronics Respondents for ultimate sale or sold to Comcast Cable or sale/lease to customers by

Comcast Cable that directly and/or indirectly infringe or facilitate infringement of one or more

claims of United States Patent Nos. 6,345,389, 7,028,327, and 7,725,720, or from aiding or

abetting others in such conduct;

(e) impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(e)(1) and (f)(l) to prevent further injury to Kudelski and its licensees’ domestic industry

relating to each of the Asserted Patents; and

(f) grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper based on

the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of the Commission,
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